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PREFACE

This present work has been prepared mainly to serve
as background material for a detailed study of the speech
habits of Frankenmuth, Michigen. The town is unique since
three languages are currently in use in the community:
English, High German, and Bayrisch. However, in the last
fifteen years English has become popular to such an extent
that, perhaps, the next generation of Frankenmuth will
speak only English.

I wish to thank Dr. Anders Orbeck, Professor of
English at Michigan State College, for his aid in the
preparation of this work, and Mrs. Barbara Hurrell, who

prepared the typewritten copies of it.
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CHAPTER 1

THE LUTHERAN BAVARIAN SETTLEMENTS IN THE SAGINAW VALLIEY

During the first half of the nineteenth sentury
Miechigan developed from a wild territory of virgin forests to
a state populated largely by immigrants living in small farming
oommunities and lumbering towns. The population of Michigan
inoreased from a mere 5,000 in 1810 to 300,000 in 1840. Most
of the early settlements were concentrated within the area
fifty miles north of the Ohio and Indiana borders.

In 1831 there was only one white settler in the Saginaw
Valley. The American Fur Company had just sent agents into
the district to begin fur trading with the Indians, and the
United States Government was maintaining a small fort at
Saginaw City in expectation of the coming land boom. In 1837
Saginaw City built its first public building, a combined
courthouse and school. However, by 1860 the town was in-
sorporated with a population of 1,712 and boasted lumber mills,
general stores, churches, and schools. In addition to Saginaw
City, the Saginaw Valley region also had, by the middle of the
nineteenth century, five Lutheran Bavarian Settlements:
Frankenmuth, Frankentrost, Frankenlust, Amelith, and Fr‘konhilr.

Michigan'!s most thickly populated area in the 1830's
was Washtenaw County. Ann Arbor, vying for the seat of the
state's capital, had a population of almost 1,000. Among the
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early immigrants in this region was a group of protestant
Germans from Swabia who began settling in Ann Arbor, Scio,
and Lodi townships in 1830. By 1833 this colony had grown
large enough so that the settlers requested the Mission House
at Basel, Switzerland, to send them a minister. Friedrich
Schmidt was chosen for this position and arrived in Ann Arbor
on August 25, 18331
That same year Schmidt organized two congregations:
the Salem Church in Lodi township and the First German Evan-
golical Soclety of Scio. The latter is now called the
Bethlehem Lutheran Church of Ann Arbore In the next few years
from his home at Salem Church, Schmidt traveled to Detroit,
Monroe, and as far north as the Saginaw Valley, administering
to the spiritual needs of the settlers, whether German or
not, and doing mission work among the Indians. At his migsion
station in Scio township he prepared several young men as
missionaries for the Indians.?
Although Pastor Schmidt's activities became fruitful
in many ways, & united Lutheran Church organization never
developed from his work. He organized the Michigan Synod in
the 1840's, but 1t received little support from his fellow

lTheodore Graebner, Church Bells in the Forest, 23~24,

2farren Washburn Florer, Early Michigan Settlements, I,
11-13. —



pastors. He was never insistant that his churches be
Lutheran; it safficed that they were Evangelical. Eventually
some of Schmidt's churches joined the more liberal Synod of
the East, some the Ohio Synod, and still others the more
oconservative Missourl Synode In later years he was named
Gnadenwahl Schmidt by his fellow German pastors who disagreed
with his ideas of predestination. He remained active as a
minister in his Bethlehem Congregation of Ann Arbor until
1871, when 111 health forced him to retire.’ Schmidt's most
significant services to the Lutheran church in Michigan was
that he was the pioneer of Indian mission work and that he
alded Pastor lLoehe in planting the Bavarian Colonies in the
Saginaw Valley areae

In the 1230's and 1340's another pastor, Friederich
Wyneken, was doing mission work similar to Schmidt's from his
own base at Fort Wayne, Indiana. Wyneken was disturbed by
what he termed the godlessness of the German immigrants in
America who lived in sparsely scattered settlements and either
practiced no religion at all or were being evangelized by the
Methodists. In 1241 he published, presumably in Germany,
certainly not in the United States, a pamphlet Nothschrei,

J1v1d., 4.



in which he desocribed the lack of Lutheran ministers on the
frontier to baptize and instruct the German 1mm1granta.h

The Reverend Wilhelm Loehe of Neudettelsau (also
spelled Neuendettelsau), in the Franconlan sector of Bavaria,
became interested in the missionary activities of Schmidt
and Wyneken around 1840 and started in Germany the journal

Kirchliche Mitthelilungen aus und ueber Nord-Amerika in 1843

to further the cause of mlssionary work in America among the

German settlers and roten Indianer. A set of this journal

reposes in the library of the Wartburg Seminary at Dubuque,
Iowa, and & few numbers of the journal are reproduced in

facsimile in Early Michigan S8ettlements, Vol. II, by W. W.

Florer.?

Johann Konrad Wilhelm Loehe (1808~1272) was born in
Fuerth, Bavaria. He studied theology at the universities of
Erlangen and Berlin and in 1837 became pastor of the country

church at Neudettelsau, where he remained all his life.

4E[Eanuel7 A. Mayer, Geschichte der evangelisch-

lutherischen 3t. lLorenz-Gemelnde, 9; Th/eodore/ Graebner,

heran oneers 1l. The Bavarian Settlements of the
BagInaw VaIIez, 7; gives a Tacsimlile of the title page of

) rs erican edition of Wyneken; Nothschrei, which
reads, Die Noth der Deutschen Lutheraner in Nordamerika.
Ihren Glaubensgenossen in der Helmath ans Rerz gelegt.
Erste Amerikanlsche Auflage. FPlittsburgh: BrucEere§ der
lutherischen Kirchenzeitung, 1844,

5Florer, 30-52., Hereafter referred to as Kirchliche
Mittheilungen.




From this rural pulpit he beeame popular throughout Bavaria as
a preacher, and nobleman and peasant alike came to his church
to hear his sermons. In 1840 loehe began treining men for
mission work in America at his parish, and his zeal for this
project soon spread to Hanover and Xehqugbq;ghprovin000,
where soocieties were organized to provide the necessary funds
to train and send pastors to the New wbrldoe
In 1843 Loehe corresponded with one of his missionaries,
Pastor W. Hattstaedt, in Monroe, Michigan, about the
possibilities of evangelizing the Indianse in Miochigan.
Hattstaedt reported that such mission work was feasible, but
eould be best undertaken jointly with the Mission House already
established by Friedrich Schmidt in Selo.! Loehe's idea for
Christianizing the Indians was that Lutheran settlements in
America would become themgelves centers of missionary work
amdéng the Indians. He planned to send a group of emigrants
under the leadership of a pastor to settle in the vicinity
of Indian villages so that the pastor eould administer to
the spiritual needs of the emigrants and also carry on

missionary work among the Indians.® Loehe discussed his plan

6Graebner, 18-19.
TMayer, 9.
&araebner, 30.



with Lorenz Loesel, a servant in his household.? Loesel recruited
a group of people living in Rottstall and the Altmuehlgrund
near Nuernberg who were interested in enigrating.lo The only
thing lacking for this group was a leader.

The man chosen by Loehe for this role was Friedrieh
August Craemer, who for a short time had lived in Loehe's
house some years previously. Craemer was a highly educated
man. He was a graduate of Erlangen University, where he studied
modern languages. In 1841 he was a tutor to the son of the Count
Carl von Einsiedel. Later he was a tutor to the children of
Lord Lovelace in Davonshire, England, and then became an
instructor of German language and literature at the University
of Oxford.ll A plous man, Craemer did not find the Rationalism
at Oxford compatible with his Lutheran faith. He had beecome
interested in mission work through reading a copy of Wyneken's
Nothschrei, and when informed by his younger brother of Loehe's
plan for colonization, he offered his services. Craemer arrived
at Neudettelsau in the autumn of 1844 to make preparations with

Loehe for the mission oolony.12

IMayer, 10

1°Gentonn1a1, One Hundred Years of Grace, St. lorenz
Evangelical Lutheran Church, Frakenmuth, HIchigan, 36, Here~
after referred t 1

o as Centennial.

1llgraebner, 30-31.
12¥ayer, 15.



The financing of this migsiocnary venture was supplied
by donations from a group of wealthy people in Mecklenburg.
Loehe wrote Pastor Schmidt in Scio, asking him to find a sultable
location for the proposed settlement. S8chmidt, in turn, told
one of his own missionaries, Johann J. F. Auch, at Sebewaing
to choose a site for them around the Saginaw Valley reginn.13
The name chosen in advance by Loehe for this settlement was
Frankenmut, i.e., the Courage of the Franks. The early
spelling of the community, as Greenholt's dissertation shows,
was without the 3.1“ Only once is the h spelling used in
Florer's reproduction of the Kirchliche Mittheilungen.l5

The "Gemeinde Ordnung® of 1848 also uses the spelling without
h, but the revision of the "Gemeinde Ordnung" of 1852 uses

the spelling F'mnkenmuth.l6 But, however spelled, the name
continued until well after 1900, to be pronounced /Trapkanmuilf
and is still so pronounced by many people of German extraction
in the Saginaw Valley. Gradually, but well after 1920, a

13Graebner, 33.

Vomer Reginald Greenholt, A Study of Wilhelm lLoehe,
His Colonies and the Lutheran Missions i1n the BQgInaw VaIIeI

s, eago,

of MIchigan: unpublished doctorel thesis, Unlversity o
.37 ra— ’

151 rchliche Mittheilungen, 1846, Nro. 6, seotion 8&.

16%Geme1nde Ordnung der Gemeinde Frankenmut" in Florer,
II, 10-20, in facsimile. Hereafter referred to as “Gemeinde
Ordnung, isus;' “Gemeinde Ordnung der Gemeinde Frankenmuth,"
Floreg, I, 99-108. Hereafter referred to as "Gemeinde Ordnung,
1852,



second pronunciation /frayksnmu:¢/ developed among outsiders
and has since come into use among some of the townspeople who
have taken to speaking English.

Craemer was ordained into the ministry in Bremen on
April 4, 1845, I imagine this was more or less a privilege
given to Mecklenburgers as & compensation for their financial
ald, for certainly Loehe could have ordained Craemer as a
minister in Neudettelsau. The group that Craemer led was
ecomposed of one married ocouple, Martin Haspel and his wife,
Margaretha, nee Leinberger; four engaged couples: Johann Conred
Weber and his fianoee Kunigunde Bernthal; Lorenz loesel and
his fiancee Margaretha Walther; Johann List and his fiancee
Marie Lotter; and Johann Pickelmann and his fiancee Margaretha
Auer; two single men, Johann Bierlein and Leonhard Bernthal;
and Henry Craemer, a waif whom Craemer had adoptod.17

On April 20 the Carolina, carrying this band of
colonizing-missionaries, weighed anchor. The next day Craemer
married the engaged couples who salled with him. Evidently
the Bavarian law wﬁieh required a man to own property in order
to apply for a marriage license prevented these couples from
being married in Germany. This law was later to become the
undorlying factor in settling one of Loehe's later colonies in
the Saginaw Valley.

17centennial, 36.
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This first group of Loehe's colonists arrived in New
York City on June 8 and were received by the pastor of St.
Matthew!s Church in New York City. Two days later Craemer
married Dorothea Benthien, a woman who had served as a nurse
to smallpox patients during the voyage, but not one of the
Bavarian colonists. This marriage was in accordance with the
advice of Loehe, who urged Craemer to choose a wife before
beginning his work in the wilderness of Michizan.18

From New York the colonists took the route to Michigan
followed by all of the succeeding Bavarian emigrants; to
Albany by boat, from Albany to Buffalo by train, and by boat
to Detroit. From Detroit Craemer and his group went by boat
to Bay City, then called Lower Saginaw, and from there down
the 8aginaw River to Saginaw City.

Pastor Auch, who had made preparations for this group
as Schmidt had imstructed him, met them in Saginaw City and
quartered them in his home. At this time Auch lived in
Saginaw City, but was doing missionary work among the Indians
at Sebewaing. The land which he had ehosen for the new
settlers, about ten miles southeast of Saginaw, they found
agreeable to them, for it was near an Indian settlement and
also bordered on the Cass River, which could furnish them
with drinking water and also serve as power for a flour mill,

A square mile of government land was purchaséd at §2.50 per

18Graebner, 3k
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acree. Dally the men walked from Saginaw to this area in order
to clear the land and to erect the bulldings for the settlement,
while the women remained at Auch's home. This group of
"Dutchmen" in their Bavarian clothes caused considerable
curiosity among the Saginaw folk, for they were the first
Germans to settle in the region.

The first buildings at Frankenmuth were the company hut
for the colonists, about thirty feet square, and the parsonage
for Craemer, which also served as the church. The cattle and
farm equipment were bought in common with monies remaining from
funds which the people of Mecklenburg had provided for this
missionary venturo.19 This is the only instance of common pro-
perty ownership in the community. The primary problem of the
community was the division of land. Loehe intended his
oolonies in the United States to be parts of the German Reich.
The charter, which the colonists signed before departure,
pledged them to be loyal subjects of Germany.Z0 Naturally,
Craemer wanted the new settlement to be planned according to
German farm communities, with the farmers living in a group
around the churche Pastor Auch advised him that the American

way, 1.68., each farmer living on his own land, was more

19k1rchliche Mittheilungen, 1845, Nro. 11, Section 25.

20graebner, 89. See also Appendix I.
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sultable for them. The settlers accepted Auch's advice,
though against Craemer's wish. In the Fall of 1845 the
settlers began constructing their own log cabins on their

allotted land.Zlt

Each famlily repald the church for their
land, and the 1list of early landowners shows that all of this
first group owned their own lend by 1854,22

As a mission colony Frankenmuth was not sucocessful,
The Indians never settled in permanent villages, but moved
throughout the area wherever hunting and fishing was plentiful.
This meant that the children staying at the mission house
would leave with their parents, and also that Craemer would
have to follow them to their new location to evangelize the
older ones. However, by June 1846 eleven children were
staying at the mission houae,23 and on the third day after
Christmas three were baptized; Abrupuam, a boy of 17-18 years
who took the Christian name of Abraham; his elder eister, who
was baptized Magdalene; and his younger sister, who was
baptized Anna. These three were children of an English father
(doubtless American, for Yankee or English was then applied to
the English speaking settlers by the Frankenmuthers), and an
Indian mother. After the service Craemer sang some hymns with

them which he had translated into the Chippewa languago.au

elnayer, 30.

22M. A. Leeson, History of Saginaw County, Michigan, 837.

24¥1 pohliche Mittheilungen, 1249, Nro. 3, section 6.
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The second group of immigrants from Germany sponsored
by Loehe arrived at Frankenmuth tn May, 1346. They were
- farmers and tradesmen from Rottstall, Altmuehlthal, and Ansbach
in Bayariu.25v In this group was the enterprising Hubinger
family, who built the village's first flour mill and lumber
mill., These settlers, nine families with children, ten married
couples and a few single men~-gomé ninety to one hundred soulsw,
purchased their lands directly from the government. The village
began to form around the dam of the saw mill, about a mile froa
the church.

Loehe, through the reports from Creemer that the Indians
did not live in permanent settlements, soon realized that mission
colonies in America were not practical. Therefore he conceived
a new plan for colonization. Instead of having emigrants
leave singly or in small groups, he would organize them before
they departed from Germany and send eash group under the
leadership of a pastor. For his second colony he chose the
name Frankentrost, Consolation of the Franks.

In April 1847 twenty-two families under the leadership
of Pastor Johann Heinrich Phillip Graebner left Germany to fom
this new settlement. They had gathered #u,OOO among themselves
for the purchase of lands, which was sent to Craemer in

rrankonluth.26 Pastor Graebner recorded his acoount of the

25uayer, 43.
26

Graebner, 42.
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Journey and the settlement in Die fraenkischen Colonien des

Saginaw Thales in Staate Michigan, which, unfortunately,

has never been printed. Theodore Graebner, who has had access
to this unique copy, quotes some of this manusoript in Church

Bells in the Forest, part of which is worth retelling here.

The instructions of Pastor Loehe provided that I
travel in steerage together with my colonists.
If our vessell should meet with dangers, I was
to think of my own rescue only after the last

of my charges had left the ship. In case of
extreme peril I should be found ready to remain
on board with those who should happen to romaig
there and comfort them in the moment of death.<!

The site chosen by Craemer and Graebner for Frankentrost
was about seven miles northwest of Frankenmuthe At that time
government land cost §1.25 an acre, but Michigaﬁ State bonds
eould be purchased cheaply and were accepted at face value for
buying land. Using this financial advantage, the colonists
bought the land for only eighty-two cents an acre. For the
next ten years Frankentrost was a self-gufficient community
without a single road to the outside world, and its only
contacts with civilization were through the other Bavarian
settlements. As Johann Graebner records:

The first log cabins were miserable affairse.
The floor was the naked clay. No rock was
avallable for fireplaces; these also were made

of clay. Most of the tables, chairs, and bed-
steads were made by the settlers themaselves.

271b1a., 42-U47.
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All articles of food had to be carried as also
%gg;rtgh:oggogﬁczgag:.Egeir hands which they

Today this farm community has around two hundred
people, mostly descendents of the original settlers. It 1s
solidly Lutheran, and the church atill plays an important
part in the lives of the people. A few years ago when their
frame church was destroyed by fire, contributions were
received from all of Frankentrost's sister Bavarian communities,
and within a year the bulilding was replaced by a modern brick
structure.

In 1848 a third group of emigrants gathered in
Neudettelsau to plant a third colony under the leadership of
Pastor George Ernst Christlan Ferdinand Sievers. The party
left on two ships, Sievers being on the second which sailed
three days after the first. After the voyage the colonists
from both ships were to meet in Frankenmuth to make prepara-~
tions for the settlement. When Sievers arrived there, he
found that only a few of his group had preceded him; some had
remained in Monroe, some had gone to Wisconslin, and those who
did meet him preferred to stay at Frankenmuth. However, in
a few weeks another group of colonists arrived from Neudettelsau,
and with them 8ievers founded Frankenlust, Joy of the Franks,

gsome twenty miles northwest of Frankenmuth.2? Like Frankentrost,

281p1d., 46.
29Graebner, 5.
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this village has never developed. Today it has a few hundred
Anhabitante and is mainly a farm community and the center of
religious life for the Bavarlan farmers in the neighboring
area. Under 8ievers' leadership German Lutheran churches
were founded in Saginaw, Monitor, Mt. Pleasant, Bay City, and
Amelith. He traveled as far west as Minnesota, pro@ching and
ingtructing the German settlers.

Friedrich Koch, the father-in-law of Sievers, came from
Germany and visited him at Frankenlust in 1848 with the intention
of forming a settlement for the employees of his mines and
factories in Germany if the Revolution of 1848 should force
him to close down his plantl.3° The proposed settlement was
to be named Amelith, from the name of his wife's home town,
the fourth of the Bavarian settlements in the Saginaw Valley.
Land was purchased from the government and a few German
settlers came from nearby communities. 8ince the revolution
414 not affect Koch's business, he returned to Germany, and,
of ecourse, none of his employees onigratod.31 Kooh later wrote
a travel guide for German emigrants, Die Deutschen Colonien
in der Naohe des Saginaw-Fluses, & copy of which reposes in
the Hoyt library of Saginaw, Michigan. Today Amelith is a

hamlet, having only a church, a few stores, and homese.

JOEdmund P. Gremel, A Century of Grace, 5.

31John Andrew Russell, The Germanic Influence in the
Making of Michigan, 339-340.
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In 1848 Sievers purchased 1,592 acres of land four
miles west of Frankenmuth from monies galned by selling some
of Frankenlust property. The plan was developed by Loehe to
form a colony on this land for the poor of Bavaria. He named
this fifth settlement Frankenhilf, Help of the Franks. At
this time the Bavarian law demanded as a requisite for marriage
property ownership. Pastors in the area of Neudettelsau were
requested to select as emigrants for this colony either re-
putable single people or couples living together without
formal marriage who would reform under better social eonditions.
This was to be an industrial ecenter with a mateh factory
and mills. The group left Germany in 1850 under the leadership
of Candidate Herman Kuehn. Only one family followed him after
they got to Michigan, to the new settlement; the others joined
the previously founded Bavarian ooloniec.32 lLater other
emigrents settled in the area, so that today Frankenhilf, now
called Richville for some unknown reason, but still referred to
a8 Frankenhilf by most of the Bavarian descendents in the
Saginaw Valley, is a village of about four hundred people.
After one hundred years these Bavarian settlements in
the Saginaw Valley and the churches founded by their pastors
at Saginaw and Bay City still have close relationships. They

attend each other's church festivals and aié each other

32grasbner, 56-59.
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whenever possible. Every church member knows the pastors
of the several congregations, the church developments and
history of the other congregations.

All of the villages desire a certain amount of 1go=
lation, and all have kept the usage of their mother tongue,
Bayrisch, as a language of the home. Today everyone in
these farm communities can speak English, although among the
older people, aged seventy and above, there are those who
may profess no knowledge of the language. 8Since World War
II attendance at German church gervices in these villages
has been falling off in favor of attendance at English
services. In the early communities public and parochial
schools were combined, but around 1900 these schools were
made to ocomply with the state laws of education. Richville
(Frankenhilf), however, had combined parochial and publie
schools until 1925,

Too often one hears that close intermarriage has made
Frankenmuth "one big family." Church law forbids marrying a
relative closer than a second cousin, and tradition in the
community frowns upon even so close a marriage. Of course,
most marriages are contracted between natives of the town,
but many of them are also contracted with people in the sister
communities and with members of the church living in Saginaw

and Bay Citye.
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To a great extent the development of Frankenmuth 1s
similar to that of the other four communities, although
Frankenmuth is the largest and, perhaps, the most prosperous

of the group.



CHAPTER 11
THE DEVELOPMENT OF FRANKENMUTH

A selfegufficient and until around 1940 an i1solated
eommunity was the ideal of the Frankonmuthera.l The
nearest rallroad to the village is at Gera Junction, five
miles away. Various reasons have been given for the village
fathers! refusal to permit a rallroad to enter Frankenmuth,
but the desire for isolation is certainly more acceptable
than the usual excuse that they feared a railroad line would
mar the scenic beauty of the area. Freight to and from
Frankenmuth is elther carried all the way by trucks or by
rall as far as Gera Junction and then hauled to the village.
From 1904-1929 a spur of the Saginaw-Detroit interurban
line ran to the limits of Frankenmuth. For the next twelve
years the village was without any souroce of public
transportations In 1941 the Greyhound Bus line received a
franchise from the village to operate in the town. Today
two buses dally for Detroit and two for Saginaw pass through
Frankenmuth. Housewives often ride these buses to make
shopping trips to Saginaw. Doubtless, Frankenmuth would
have stayed the isolated community that it was one

1 Most of this material has been obtained from various
sources in the village.
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hundred years ago if two state highways did not run
through 1it.

Russell says that *"Up to 1905 everybody living in
Frankennuth was of German birth or descent save one
Welshman named Eugene Willlams and one Indian, who spoke
German."2 This statement would almost hold true until
1937 In 1906 E. W. Gallagher, a merchant in Bridgeport,
Michigan, was invited to the community to start a village
newspaper. His family was probably the first non-German
speaking one in the village and the only one for the next
thirty years. The Gallagher family is still prominent in
the community, and the younger generation has acquired all
the German customs and speech habits of the village. From
1860 to 1937, with the above exception and the exseption of
professional men, such as doctors and lawyers, the only
new settlers in the area were a few (German speaking
Lutherans who came there either to farm, or to open small
businesses. Not until 1937 was there given a general
permission by the community to outsiders, that is anyone,
regardless of national heritage or religion, to move into
the communitye.

The town has never prodused many profollional men
with the exception of parochial school teachers and

ministers. Russell names Jacob Meyer, professor of German

2Russell, 337.
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and the 8tructure of Sanscrit at the University of Chicago,
as the town's greatest contribution to learning.> Meyer
is the only person from the community that I know of who
has distinguished himself in fields outside the church, and
Meyer, incidently, received his early training at Concordia
College at Ft. Wayne, Indiana, a ILutheran institution.
Therefore, the doctors and lawyers practising in the village
have always been outsiders, most of them knowing little
or no Germane In the early days Frederich W. Koch, an
early emigrant from Bavaria, did prectise medicine there
for a short time, and around 1915 a doctor trained in
Germany also practised in the town, but he soon returned to
his native land. Today the three lawyers in the community,
mostly oecuplied with the legal work of the local industries,
are likewise outsiders. Two, however, are of German=
Iutheran heritage from Saginawe

Outsiders living ih the community at the present time,
estimated at about one hundred, are mostly employed in
technical capacities at Universal Engineering or Frankene
muth Brewery, the town!s two largest industries. 8hortly
after World War II German speaking Latvian families, about
one hundred persons, were invited into the area as fam

laborers. This seems to be the greatest influx in population

3Ivid., 230.
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since 1846, However, most of them have now moved to
Saginaw or to other industrial towns in Michigan, hoping
to obtain higher wages than farm labor provided.

One may best understand the feeling of the community
by reading the "Gemeinde Ordnung" of 1848 and its revised
form of 1852. This is a remarkable document to have been
penned by a group of immigrant farmers and lechanioo.u
John Adam lList, a mechanic, 1s probably the penman and, no
doubt, had much to do with the contents.

The maln purpose of the "Gemeinde Ordnung! 1s to
eliminate any need for oivil court action (*bei uns /Tst7
kein Pfandrecht geuebt wcrdon')? to regulate community
diuput‘s, and to keep outsiders from moving into the area.
The major premise of the charter is that "Since every member
of the community participates in the weltari of the community
life, so every member of the community 1s obligated, within
reason, to contribute according to his ability.'s Everyone
is required to give at least one day of labor annually to the
community or provide another person as his substitute. Every
member is expected to chop one or one and a half cords of wood

a year for the minister and the cantor, i.e., the school

b gee Appendix II.

5%Gemeinde Ordnung, 1852," Seetion V. All further
discussion of the "Gemeinde Ordnung® will concern this revision.

63ection II.
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teacher and the church musician. A special section deals
with the bullding of roads so that all farmers in the area
may be able to communicate with each other. Regulations
are made regarding fences. Boars, bulls, and biting dogs
mugt be properly confined. Property cannot be sold without
the consent of the community, and community members have
first choice in buying the property in question. Everyone
in the community must be of the Lutheran faith.

To enforce these regulations and to settle impartially
any disputes, six trustees were elected "nach der Vorsherift
des Staats Gesezes wegen Incorporieren des Kirchenguts.®
They were & Vorsteher, Kirchenpfleger, two Kirchenraethe,
and two Bovollnaochtigten.7

The dutles of the Vorsteher were as follows:

a) As often as necessary he shall call and conduct
community meetings. It is his duty to see to it that no
member in good standing shall be absent without proper
excuse, and he shall admonish severely those who are absent
without excuse.

b) He shall collect funds quarterly and pay the
necCessary expenses.

e) He shall notify the people concerning the necessary

community work and assign them wherever needed, and with the

Tsection VIII.
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aild of the deputies he shall summon those who are absent
without excuse and admonish them. He or hig deputies shall
check exactly the time when a person is appointed; anyone
in default shall work extra.

d) He or his deputies shall settle any disputes in
accordance with the above rules, and the guilty party shall
pay the magistrates the costs for their loss of time.

e) He shall present to the community a yearly account
of his time and expenses in order that they may compensate
him in a reasonable and acceptable waye.

f) If anyone in any way has offended and remains
unrepentent or commits a public offense, he shall notify
the paator.s

The community was in effect something of a theocracy.
While the officials were publicly elected, they were in-
fluenced to a considerable extent in the discharge of their
duties by the churche The "Gemeinde Ordnung, 184&," which
was & kind of city charter, was signed by fifty-one heads
of families. The revision of 1852, which added the restrietion
against the selling of property in the community, was signed
by eighty. This charter was in effect for many years, and
even today minor disputes are often settled by the voting
members of the church or by the minister rather than by civil

court.

83ection IXe
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The township of Frankenmuth was incorporated in 1854,
That the area included in the township involved some farms
owned by people not of German descent may be seen from the
roll of early land buyers in Leeson's history, and today
there are still a few farms in the township owned by none
German speaking p00ple.9 Village and township officials
have always been and still are for the most part of German
extraction, although during the last ten years outsiders
have also held public offices. The village itself was
incorporated in 1904, and since that time has been governed
by a mayor and village council. The population for
Frankenmuth since 1ts incorporation has been as follows:

1904 1910 1920 1930 1940 1950
633 693 825 925 1100 1208

One can see that the growih of the community has been steady,
though not large, during the last fifty years. The average
family in the area has from three to five children, and
though one might expect to find families of eight or ten
children in a farming district, such i1s not, nor ever seems
to have been, the case.

Politically Frankenmuth may today be called a typical
mid-western isolationist town. Until Wilson's administration
the community was solidly Democratic. The first World War

9Leeson, &38.
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swung the isolationist vote to the Republican Party. The
promige of the repeal of prochibition in 1932 by Franklin
Roosevelt resulted in & Democratic landslide in the township,
for these people enjoy their beer, but by 1940 the town was
again predominantly chublioan.lo Most citizens seem to show
little interest in politics or world affairs. Citizens
revealed no sympathy for Germany during the last two wars.
They consider themselves Americans and are willing to comply
with the laws of the land, but they are not too interested

in taking an active part in making these laws.

During World War I there were a few incidents where
over zealous Americans in neighboring communities questioned
the patriotism of the citizens of Frankenmuth. German
conversations on telephones were cut off, and oceasionally
there were flag demonstrations in the village. However,
during World War I the people of the village bought $250,000
worth of Liberty Bonds.ll During World War II, however, few
people doubted the patriotism of Frankenmuth, although
from time to time the FBI was notified of alleged subversive
activities. On April 26, 1945, Federal Agents investigated
the report that a Nazl flag was displayed in the town.
Investigation proved that the flag was in a merchant's

10ugyccess of Frankenmuth Attained by Hard Work,"
Michigan Tradesman, no. 3309 (October 29, 1952), 3-k.

1lpuggell, 338.
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window display of war souvenirs sent home by service men
overaeas.12 Partly through civic pride and partly by the
intense desire to prove themselves good Americans,
Frankenmuthers usually oversubscribs their quotas of War
Bonds and Community Chest Drives.

S8ince its settlement three languages have been in
use in Frankenmuth: High German as the language of the
church; Bayrisch as it 1s called in Frankenmuth, though
the Franconian dialect is perhaps more correct, as the
language of the home; and English as the language of éivlc
records. All township and village records from the very
beginning have been kept in English. Since 1945 church
records at 8t. Johnts Church have been kept in English, and
starting this year the records of St. Lorenz Church too will
be kept in English, the records having been previously kept
in High German by both churches.

8ince World War II there has been a gradual shift in
language usage. English is becoming more and more popular.
None of the townsfolk can glve a definite reason for the
change, but none are violently opposed to it and the
younger generation actually desires it. Over two hundred of
the young men from the area were in the armed services during

World War II. It was a broadening experience for them,

12ppI Investigates," Frankenmuth News (April 26, 1945),
p.l, col. 1.
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beeause before that time everyone spent most of his time
in the community. Some of the service men also married
non-German speaking wives from other areas of the United
States. Universal Engineering, founded in 1926, and the
Frankenmuth Brewery, opened after the repeal of prohipition,
have expanded their business output in the last fifteen
years and call for employees from outside the community.
Thousands of people from all over Michigan in the last
fifteen years have come to the community for the famous
chicken dinners. Also farmers in the area now work in the
factories in Saginaw during the winter months and have
closer contacts with people who speak only English.

As late as 1940 Bayrisch was spoken on the streets
and in the stores by young and old alike. Even baseball
was played in Bayrisch, and couples made love in the dialect
of their forefathers. 8hopping and all business was seldom
carried on in spoken English, and at this late date one of
the small factories kept its records in German. One must
remember, howevor, that everyone in the community could
speak English.

Estimates of how many who cannot speak German in the
village today renge from 10-20%. There are also perhaps
£irty to a hundred people who are not Lutheran now living
in the community. In June, 1948, the principal of St. Lorenz
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Lutheran School reported that as yet no one had brought an
unchurched child to the school for religious education, but
he was hoping that the next year would see this happen.13
X§p Main Street today one seldom hears Bayrisch spoken.
It is, however, used in many of the homes, and is still the
language spoken at confirmation and wedding partié%k It
1s a constant source of consternation among those attending
high school in Saginaw and colleges throughout the country,
that German 1s not an easy language, the students thinking
that their Bayrisch should be some help. High school students
from Frankenmuth often prefer learning French to German,
gsometimes, rather unjustly, questioning the ability of the

German teacher. Strangely enough very few pQOple in the

community can speak pure High German. The noticeable fact

about the High German which is spoken is that the final /&7

as in Gabe is pronounced, as almost everywhere by Germans

in the Saginaw Valley, as [1;7. However, a few of the

soldiers from the village were used as interpreters during

World War II. From various conversations with people in

the village I gather that thelr written German is comparable

in deterioration to their spoken language. It has been, perhaps,
fifty years since there has been any correspondence by most

members of the community with people living in Germany.

13%py11etin of St. Lorenz Lutheran Church, Frankenmuth,
Michigan," Fourth Sunday after Trinity, June 20, 19ug,
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However, most people who speak High German or Bayrisch can
read High German at least well enough to comprehand church
literature. |

Because of its many small factories and business
establishments, unemployment 1s non-~exlistant in the town.
During the last depression WPA workers were imported into
the village to work on the various government projects, for
there were never more than five families at one time on
relief between 1929-1938.1u This full employment means
that there are no peace time enlistments in the armed services
by the young men. In faot, such an enlistment would be
oconsidered a disgrace by the man's family, for it would
imply laziness or that he had committed an immoral act. On
the other hand, no one has ever applied for draft exemption
on the grounds of conscientious objesction. During both
wars the community's draft quotas were filled, and five women
from the township enlisted in the women's branches of the
armed forces during World War II.

There are many small industries and business estab-
lishments in the village, employing from ten to thirty
people. They include the Frankenmuth Woolen Mills, the
Creamline Dairy, the Frankenmuth Cheese Factory, and

luLewrenco McCracken, "Town Enjoying Healthy Boom.
Bank Unable to Find Any Borrowers," Detroit Free Press
August 7, 1938), p.&, col.7=8.
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Rupprecht!s Sausage. The sausage factory was started some
thirty years ago. They sell various types of German
sausages and are open Sundays for the tourist trade.
Hubinger's Super Market has a similar business.

The business district of the village is about a mile
up the Cass River from St. Lorenz Church. In 1846 John M,
and John G. Hubinger, brothers, bulilt a saw mill on the
river near this site, and around it stores and homes were
built which formed the eommunity. In 1913 the village
built and operated its own eleotrical power plant, using
the river as the source of energy. However, in recent
years the town has been serviced by the Consumers Power
Company. The Hubingers also bullt & flour mill along the river
in 1870 The Hubinger lumber Company, though no longer
operating a saw mill, is still owned by the family, and
their mill, now called the Star of the West Milling Company,
produces a special type of flour used for crackers, cookies,
and pi.'ols

The three hotels of Frankenmuth (one must go to the
motel for a room, however, because the hotels cater only
to dinners and parties) have made the town famous. Thousands
of people from all over Michigan come every year to the village

for Frankenmuth Style Chicken Dinners. The name has become

15%guccess of Frankenmuth Attained by Hard Work,"
Michigan Tradesman, No. 3309 (October 29, 1952), 3-l.
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80 popular that one restaurant in Detroit specializes in
this style of food. On Mother's Day 1952 Zehnder's Hotel
alone served 3,504 meals.16

Actually the chicken dinners are only unusual from
the standpoint of quantity. They are served family style,
and the patron may have as much chicken as he desires. The
meal includes unlimited quantities of chicken and side
dishes, of cottage cheese, noodles, salads, vegetables,
pickles and coffee. The business of chicken dinners was
traditionally started by Theodore Fischer around 1915, but
not until around 1939 did they become popular throughout
the state. The menu is prepared by housewives, no pro-
fessional chefs are employed, and served by girls from the
community and neighboring farms. Both the large hotels,
Fischer's and Zehnder's, are now owned by the Zehnder family.
MoNiven's Hotel, once called Gallagher and McNiven's, is
now owned by the McNiven family. The Irish name belongs
to & lutheran from Sebawaing, who married one of the Fischer
girls.

The former Commercial House, & hotel owned by the
Kern family, is now ooccupled by the Frankenmuth News, which
prints a weekly newspaper and also does job printinge The

16%aunt Maggle," Michigan Tredesman, No. 3309 (October,
290 1952)’ {e
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Frenkenmuth News was founded by E. W. Gallagher, a merchant
from Bridgeport, Michigan, in'1906. Although almost every
Year the paper gets requests to print a German edition, the
News has never complieds Mre. Gallagher knew no German.
After 1930 the editorial post was handled by Gallagher's
sone The paper is now owned by two outsiders, but is edited
by a local person, Irene Zeilinger. Only the editions for
the last fifteen years of the News have been preserved.

Much of the news is of local church events, but, in general,
it 1s similar to any small town newspaper.

The largest industry in the town is Universal
Engineering, founded in 1926 by both local and outside
financinge It produces machine tools and employs some
400 people, many from neighboring towns. Frankenmuth
Brewery has grown from a small pre=-prohibition plant to a
modern large industry employing over 200 people. It sells
beer and 014 English Ale throughout Michigan. Geyer's
Brewery is more typical of Frankenmuthe Small, employing
about thirty, it has been in the Geyer family since 1874,
The recipe is reputed to have been the same during all these
years, and the beer 1s still made in the brewery built in
1890. The company is now expanding its business to Sagilnaw,
Bay, and Tuscola counties. Across the street from the
bréwery is Geyer's Tavern. Because the family was forbldden

by present liquor laws to operate a tavern as well as a
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brewery, the bullding now serves as the office of the village
clerke Only the brass rail and the tzps were removed from
the bullding for this change.

The Feuer Unterstuetzung Verein was organized in 1868
by a group of citizens. It was reorganized in 1941 and 1s
now the Frankenmuth Mutual Fire Insurance Companye It insures
buildings throughout the Saginaw Valley, and true to the
"Gemeinde Ordnung," has never been involved in a law suit.
The Frankenmuth Mutual Auto Insurance Company was organized
in 1921, It serves auto owners in the Saginaw Valley. Its
business reputation is equal to that of the fire insurance
company. These companies, like all businesses in Frankenmuth,
do not 1limit thelr assoclations only to Lutherans.

Lorenz Hubinger, Jr. said in 1900 that for any
emergency on which he and Pastor Mayer could agree the town
could produce half a million dollars from the gold hoarded
in homes in twenty-four hours.l7 The Frankenmuth State
Bank, affiliated with the Bank of Saginaw, was founded in
1910 to alleviate this sugar bowl saving system. Its
officers are members of the community. The bank's resources
are over $3,000,000.

Although the Lutheran Church has never forbidden its

members from seeing movies and does not have an official board

1pussel1, 332.



of censorship, the ocinema 1s consldered as a possible

source of corruption. Members of the church are to use
thelir own discretion in attending movies, but when in doubt
a8 to the morality of a film, they should ask the advice

of the pastore The most conservative members of the church
still attend only those movies which they consider will be
educational. At various times business men around Franken-—
muth considered bullding a moving picture theater in the
village, but none were sucoessful in completing the project.
In 1946 Alvert Wakeman, a farmer from Fenton, Michigan,
seocured a theater bullding permit from the village council,
and constructed the Ken theater, Ken being the heart of
Frankenmuth. The selection of films is like those offered
in any small town theater. Monday i1s Dish Nite and Thursday
is Cash Nite. The theater operates every night of the year
except Christmas Eve.

Mogt of the farms in the area which were bought by
the early settlers have remained in the hands of their
descendents. All of them are prosperous, and many a farmer's
estate in the township 1s worth over $30,000. The average
farm in the district is between eighty and one hundred twenty
acres, the crops being wheat, oats, and sugar beets.

Although the village has never frowned on the cone
veniences of modern living, the homes having refrigerators,

deep freezers, TV sets, etc., the love of complete
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independence and a desire for isolation still persistse In
1950 Government officials from Washington investigated an
unusual decision by the village. Frankenmuth had refused
Federal ald for bullding a dike along the Cass River. Funds
for%this project were supplied by the village treasury, local
taxes, and contributions. There 1s no dislike of the Federal
Government by the villagers; they simply like to do things

in their own way with their own money. In April 1953 almost
the'whole townshlip of Frankenmuth was zoned as residential
property, farms included. A large General Motors Corporation
plant is now being constructed about four miles north of

the village, and the people want to regulate any commercial
bullding in thelr own area which may result from this nearby
indﬁstrial expansione. This plant will also affect the

growth of Frankentrost and Richville, since it is also only

& few miles from these villages. It is well known in Saginaw
that every year on the date which the township taxes are due
to Saginaw County, the treasurer of Frankenmuth Township
reports to the Court House with a check for full payment

of the township's taxes. He is always the first in the county
to do so. Tradition says that one year when a merchant of
Frankenmuth could not meet his tax bill, the necesgary money
was loaned to him by friends, so that this record would not

be broken.



CHAPTER III
THE CHURCH

As a mission colony Frankenmuth was not successful,
because the Indlans moved throughout the Thumb Area of
Michigan in search of better hunting and fishing grounds.
Craemer, therefore, was required to make long trips through
the forests to their villages in order to evangelize them.
Most of Frankenmuth's misslionary activities seem to have
been discontinued when Craemer left the settlement in 1850.
Edward R. Baierlein, a graduate of the Mission House at
leipsic, Germany, came to Frankenmuth in 1847 to aild
Crasmer with his mission worke In 1848 Baierlein, hearing
- that there was a large Indian settlement in the vicinity
of 8t. Louis, Michigan, some fifty miles northwest of
Frankenmuth, founded Bethany liseioh near this village.

At the Bethany Mission he translated into the Ojibway
language parts of Luther's Catechism, some hymns, and a
speller and reader. A copy of the catechism reposes in

the library of Concordlia Seminary at Fort Wayne, Indianae.
In 1849 the Missouri Synod assumed charge of the Bethany
Mission, thereby freeing Frankenmuth from the coste and
responsibilities. In 1853 Balerlein left the mission to
accept & call for mission work in East Indla, and gradually

the mission station at Bethany ceased to operate. Later
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he wrote a book Im Urwald: Bel den rohten Indianern,
1

deseribing his experiences at Bethany Misgion. The book
was published in Germany and evidently was not circulated
too widely in America, for I have not been able to locate
a copy. W. W. Florer, a faculty member at the University
of Michigan, 1s now preparing a book on the mission activities
of Balerlein at Bethany.
Craemer describes the life and education of his Indian
converts at the Frankenmuth Mission in & report to the

Lutheraner. The group of young boys and girls, usually around

ten in number, lived barracks style with Craemer's wife as
the matron. Probably the company hut, which was no longer
used by the settlers, was used ts house these children. They
woere taught hymns, spelling, reading and counting in German,
“some English," and Luther's Small Catechiem in their own
languago.z It 1s reported that at the seventy-fifth
anniversary in 1920 of S8t. Lorenz Church of Frankenmuth,
Phillip Gruet, a seventy-three year old Indian, one of the
early converts to Christianity, delivered a short address to

the congregation in gutem gggtsch.B The church records of

1Ludwig Ernest Fuerbringer, &80 Eventful Years, 23.

2priedrich August Craemer, "A Report on the Mission
Colony at Frankenmuth, Michigan," Lutheraner, V, (September
12, 1848), 3. Reproduced in translation In H. O. A. Keinath,
Documents of the lutheran Church, U40.

JHottman, 47.



Frankenmuth show that thirty-one Indian children were
baptized by Craemer during his five year stay at the village
and a few others by his succeasora.u Today the only reminder
which the community has of its original purpose as an

Indian mission 1s the Indian Cemetery at St. Louls, which

is etill tended by the St. Lorenz congregation.

In 1841 Pastor Schmidt at his home in Lodl Township
organized the Michigan Synod of Lutheran Churches which
Craemer and most of the other Lutheran pastors in Michigan
Joined. However, by 1847 there developed a controversy in
the organization on some doctrinal points and the forming of
mixed congregations, i.e., holding eervices with non-Lutherans.
In protest Craemer and & few other pastors who did not believe
in mixed congregations resigned from the Michigan Synod in
1847 and proposed forming a new synod with Pastor Wyneken in
Fort Wayne, Indiana.5 The Michigan Synod functioned until
1892, at which time it was disbanded and its churches were
free to join other Lutheran synods. Late in 1847, after
the cesession from the Michigan Synod, the Craemer and

Wyneken groups met at Chicago with some German Lutheren

hGraobnor, 13
5Floror, II, 5.
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pastors from Missourli and formed & new synod. The main tenet
of this new organization, called the Missourl Synod, was that
the ministers of this group remain true to the original
dootrines of faith as set down by Martin Luther, and
especially that they follow the precepts of the Unaltered
Augsdburg 00nfont10n.6 Today one may see on most corner-
stones of most of the Missouri 8ynod churches the name of

the church followed by U.A.C., e.g+«, Holy Cross Evangelical
Lutheran Church, U.A.C., the abbreviation for the Unaltered
Augsburg Confession.! All church members and ministers of
the Missouri Synod were required to associate in religious
affairs only with other members of the synod. This precept
for the most part still holds true today in the synod. Mixed
marriages, marriages of a lutheran with a non-lutheran, are
permitted, but minlsters cannot perform marriage ceremonies

where both parties are non-lutheran. A non=synod member may

G'The First Constitution of the Missouri 8ynod, 1847,"
reproduced in translation in Keinath, 35-36.

T The Augsburg Confession, penned in 1530 by Melancthon
states the views of Luther and his followers regarding free
will, original sin, the sacraments of the church, etc. The
Altered Augsburg Confession of 1540 by Melancthon differs with
Luther's views on free will and communion. J. L. Neve,

Story and Siggifioanoo of the Augsburg Confession, 87-96,
states tha e erences are minor.
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be a witness at a baptism, but not a sponsor, since a sponsor
is held responsible for the Christian education of his ward.
Under the constitution of the Missouri Synod each congregation
i1s permitted to choose and dlsmiss 1ts own minister and to
govern 1tself in non-=doctrinal matters. About thirty years
ago a congregation in Michigan dismissed a minister mainly
because his sermons were documented with anecdotes. He was

in no way disgraced in the synod for this method of preaching
and now has a parish in the northern part of the State.

Divinity students of the Missourl Synod become can-
didates for the ministry upon graduation from the seminarye.
Once they are installed in a church, 1.6., have a permanent
position as a clergyman, they assume the title of pastor or
reverende Installing may be done by any pastor in the churche.
In recent years the Misgsouri 8ynod has Joined with the
Wisconsin, Slovak, and Norweglan 8ynods to form the Evangelical
Lutheran Synodical Conference. The Missouri Synod now usually
refers to itself as the Lutheran Church-~-Missourli 8ynod.

The Constitution of the lilssourl Synod was exactly
opposed to Loehe!s beliefs. By 1853, Loehe, back in Germany,
saw no hope of saving his Bavarian settlements—-the other
pastors and congregations by this time had followed Craemer's
example and Jjoined the Missourl Synod--from what he called

their "popery," while the Missouri Synod lost all hope of



43

convincing him of his errors in church organization. In his
farewell letter, dated August 4, 1853, written from Germany
to the Saglnaw Valley settlements, Loehe states that since
it 1s impossible for their relationship to continue as it
has been, he must sever all connections with them. He
especlally is grieved that they consider the congregation
&8 supreme in its own affairs, Loehe wanting bishops as
district governors, and that a minister has no separate higher
status. He also considers as popery their reluctance to
assoclate with churches not members of the Missouri Synod.8
Frankenmuth today has two churches, both members of
the Evangelical Lutheran Synodical Conference. 8t. Lorenz,
the church founded by Craemer in 18&5, has an average Sunday
attendance of 100, and St. John's, founded in 1380, has
about 200 members attending worship on Sunday. The congre-
gation of St. Lorenz has always called the best available
ministers and at times was as long as six months without
a permanent pastor while choosing one whom the congregation
deemed qualified. Many of their pastors left for higher
positions at the church's seminaries, and some like Dr.
Emanuel A. Mayer became famous in the synod for their sermons.
The requirement for the St. Lorenz pulpit has always been

scholarship, and never a matter of Bavarian heritage.

8Loehc, "Farewell Letter," reproduced in translation
in Keinath, 50-53.
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Pastor Friedrich August Craemer left Frankenmuth in
1850 when he was called as professor to the Concordia Seminary
at Ft. Wayne, Indlana. Loehe sent Rev. Carl Roebbelen, a
native-born German who received all his education there, to
replace him on May 2, 1851. Because of Roebbelen's 111 health,
Jeo A. Huegli was called to assist him in 1857. Huegli re-
mained there only one year and then moved to Saginaw, and
in the same year Roebbelen resigned and returned to Germany,
where he died in 1866.° 1In 1858 Rev. Ottomar Fuerbringer
was then called from Freistadt, Wisconsin. Ottomar Fuerbringer
was born in Gera Ruess in Saxony on June 10, 1810. He
received all his education in Germany, graduating from the
University of Leipsic in 1830, He emigrated with a group of
S8axons to Perry County, Missouri in 1838, and was one of the
founders of the Concordia Seminary at St. Louls, Missouri,
in 1839, For a short time he was professor of claiaical
literature at the -eminaryolo-

Fuerbringer's son, ludwig, was called to assist him
in 1885, and when the elder Fuerbringer died a few months
later, he became first pastor. Ludwig Fuerbringer was born
in Frankenmuth on March 29, 1865. At thirteen he attended

9Hoffman, 11.

1°Portraita and Bibliographical Record of Saginaw and
Bay CountTles, Michlggn:'51§:§5
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Concordla College in Ft. Wayne, a four year school organized
to prepare men for further study at seminaries, and upon
graduation matriculated at Concordia Seminary in St. Louis.
In his book &0 Eventful Years Fuerbringer describes his

pastorate in Frankenmuthe It was a great help to him that
he had been reared in the community, because much of his
pastoral calls was carried on in Bayrisch. As did many of
his assoclates, Fuerbringer continued his study of the
Hebrew testament on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday, and read
the Greek testament on Tuesday, Thursday, and Baturdayoll
In May, 1893, Fuerbringer was called to teach at the seminary
in St. Louis. Later he became president of the institution
and remained active in its affairs until his death in 1947.
His son, Alfred Fuerbringer, for many years president of
Concordia Teachers College in Seward, Nebraska, was appointed
as president of the Concordia Seminary in 8t. Louis in 1953.12

Pastor Emanuel A. Mayer, author of the 8t. Lorenz's
fiftieth anniversary book (1895), replaced Fuerbringer in
1893, Mayer was born in Mannheim, Germany, in 1859, and
received his early education there. He emigrated to America
with his family at an early age and was graduated from

Concordia Seminary, Ft. Wayne, in 1880. From 1894-1900 he

1llpyerbringer, 153-161.

12W)en from Missouri," Time, LXI (April 27, 1953),
8081, -
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was assisted by his father, Rev. August A. H. Mayer.13 The
elder Mayer, educated in Germamy, was nearly seventy-six
years old when he came to Frankenmuth.

On Christmas Day 1900 Rev. Henry Voss was called as
assistant pastor to Emanuel A. Mayer. Voss was born in
Mecklenburg, Germany, in 1860. He received his early
education there and his theological training in Amerioa.lu
In 1931 Reve. A. C. Klammer was called from Good Thunder,
Minnesota, as assistant pastor when Voss resigned because
of old age. Klammer, a native born American, received his
education in the seminary at 8t. Louis. He still serves as
assistant pastor in the St. Lorenz Churche. Upon the death
of Emanuel A. Mayer in 1940, his son, M. E. Mayer, assumed
the office as first pastor to the churche He received his
early education in Frankenmuth and his theological training
at 8t. Louis. Both of the present pastors of St. lLoreng,
Klammer and Mayer, preach services in German as well as in
English.

Although the separation of church and state is one
of the main precepts of the Missourl Synod, in a community
like Frankenmuth where all are of the same faith, the

minister's advice 1s ooccasionally sought in what would

u111e, 1I, 309.
W1pia., 309,
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normally be temporal affairs, such as what clubs and
organlzations it is advisable to form. The minister may
also be called upon to arbitrate family affairs. In affairs
of business however, the minister is seldom called upon for
advice by his parishionerse. In Frankenmuth book and magazine
salesmen from outside the community sometimes call upon the
minister for an endorsement, believing that his approval
will induce members of his parish to subscribe to their
literature.

In the Missouri Synod it 1s the minister who decides
if divorce 1s permissable by any of his church members, the
only grounds being adultery and extreme cruelty. The
gulilty party in a divorce 1s excommunicated, which means his
membership is dropped from the church roll call. Often in
matters of divorce, or of a proposed marriage which might
seeon irregular, the minister makes his decision with the
ocouncil of the voting members of the church. Divorce 1is such
a raere thing in Frankenmuth that no one seems to remember
when one last occurred.

Leeson, in his History of Saginaw County, Michigan,

gives an interesting account of the authority of the ministers
in Frankenmuth during the early dayse.

During the /Civil/ war the people of this town=
ship /Frankenmuth/ adopted a novel way to fill
their quota. The town is a German settlement;
the pastor is a regular patriarch, whose counsel



i1s sought in temporal as well as in spirituel

matters. He called his parish together, and

announced that the quota of the town must be

filled, and that he had selected certain of

young unmarried men to go. He read their

names and told them they or their fathers

must go. Every one of them enlisted instantly,

and were musterei into the 31st Regiment

August 27, 1864.15
How true this story 1s no one can tell, but Emanuel A.
Mayer relates in his history of the church that it was
laudable that the single men went freely to fill the
draft quota of the Civil War.16

Church membership 1s divided into three categories:

souls, communicant members, and voting members. A soul
is any member associated with the church, including children
and non-Lutheran spouses of church members. Communicant
members are those who are confirmed. Children are usually
confirmed when they have completed the eighth grade at the
parochial schoole. This status of communicant membership
entitles one to receive communion, to belong to various church
organizations, and to be burlied in the church cemetery.
Voting members are males over twenty-one years of age whose
membership is held in good standing. Membership, however,
in this category is not automatic, for a person 1is invited

to this status by the other voting members. All business

15Leeson, 839.
lsMayer, 90.
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of the church 1s in the hands of the voting members. They
call new ministers, plan building programs, decide whether
the conduct of any member warrants rebuking or even
excommunication. They elect a board of trustees, who act
&s officials of this group as well as of the churche. A
voting member is not considered elected in the Puritan
sense. At present St. Lorenz has 2771 souls, 1947 communicant
members, and 699 voting members.

Each congregation in the Church 1s at liberty to
choose which of the prescribed forms of church services
to use, the difference between these various forms being
mainly how the Kyrie and other rituals are chanted and spoken.
The St. Lorenz congregation is noted for using the most
elaborate forms of worship in the Order of Service. Until
1901 the cantor was responsible for church music. The title
is no longer used, but one of the school teachers has as
part of his Jjob the duty of furnishing church musice.

Private confession at the pastor's house before
holy communion 1s also permitted by the Church. Although
it was seldom practiced in the United States, it was used
extensively in Bavarlia during the nineteenth century. The
emigrants of Loehe brought private confession with them to
the New World, and until 1893 it was the standard procedure
at Frankenmuth.17 Finally a choice was given of either

17uayer, 86
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private or general confession, l.e., silent confession before
the service. As late as 1920 private confession was available
to the members of St. I.orenz.18 It appears that St. Lorenz
was one of the few, if not the only Lutheran church in
Michigan, at any time to use private confession.

There are four cemeteries in Frankenmuth: the Old
Cemetery of St. lorenz, the New Cemetery of S8t. Lorenz, St.
John's, and a public cemetery. In the 0ld Cemetery, used
mainly until 1880 at which time the new church was built,
there were no family plots. People were buried in rows as
they died, and the tombstones are set in neat rows. All
of them, without exception, have German inscriptions and usually
include the deceased!s confirmation verse, which also was
uaually the text of the sermon for his funeral. In 1896 a
new set of cemetery rules was formed by the congregation,
making three sections in the New Cemebery, an infants!',
single adults!', and family plots. The alottment of a family
plot does not, however, give ownership to the family, for
the plots remain the property of the congregation. There
are also special regulations as to the inscriptions and type
of headstones which may be u-od.19 I saw only a few markers

in the New Cemetery inscribed in German. St. John's offers

18Hoffman, 13.
191v1d., 15-17.
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either single or family plotse In the cemeteries of both
churches only members of the congregation may be interred.

It i1s said that almost every home in Frankenmuth has
at least one member who is either a parochial school teacher
or a minister. In the last century over two hundred men
from the community have served the church in these capacities.
The town ranks second in this respect only to Perry County,
Misgsourl, home of the Concordia Seminary. St. Lorenz has
a special fund which provides financial ald for any needy
ministrial student or future parochial school teacher from
the congregatione.

Not much information is available on St. John's Church,
which was founded in 1880. The congregation stems from a
mission in Mittlefranken-—an area four miles north of
Frankenmuth. This mission was founded in 1863 and was
arffiliated with the lMichigan Synod. 8hortly after the mission
moved into the village and became St. Johnts Church, 1t
Joined the Wisconsin 8ynod. Both Synods, being members of
the Evangelical Lutheran Synodical Conference permit St.
John's and St. Lorenz to associate with each other in religious
affairs. St. John's is small, having around 600 souls
compared with St. Lorenz's 2771, and does not support a
parochial school, but church members usually send their

children to St. Lorenz school for a Christian education.
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By 1930 8t. John's was offering morning church services
in English as well as in German. However, it was not until
1939 that St. Lorenz ilnaugurated morning services in English,
i.e., providing double headers in the parlance of the clergye.

Previous to this time there had been occasional Sunday
evening vesper services in English at St. Lorenz. In 1945
attendance at 8t. Lorenz was 1100 at German services and
350 at English; in June 1948 attendance was 896 at German
and 402 at English.ao Today attendance at both services is
about 800 eache St. John's averages about 150 at English
and 50 at German worship. In perhaps ten or fifteen years,
German will be discontinued in church services at St. John's.
The decline of German at St. lorenz is reflected in
the anniversary literature of the church: the fiftieth (1895)
and seventy~fifth (1920) books were in German, the latter

using occasional English idioms, e.g., porch, town-hall,

village, public school and garden spot, while the centennilal

book (1945) is in English and uses only three German words,
Altsitz (the old home), Konfirmandenhaus (confirmation house),

and Pfarrer (pastor)e.

20%gtate's 'Most Patriotic Town' Still Speaking German,"

Detroit News, News Pictorial (August 5, 1945), col.l, 10=ll.
Also "Bulletin of St. Lorenz Lutheran éhurch,‘ Fourth Sunday

after Trinity (June 20, 1948).



CHAPTER IV
THE SCHOOL

It 1s the desire of the Lutheran parochial schools
to give students a Christian as well as secular education.
They have always conformed in spirit, if not in faot, to
the laws of the state regarding curriculum and teacher
standards. In accordance with the belief of strict separa-
tion of church and state, however, they will accept no
financlial aid from the state. They were leaders of the
opposition to the recent question of state aid for
parochial achools.1

The parochial school teacher in Frankenmuth ranks
second only to the minister in commanding respect. His
title is teacher and married teachers are provided
teacherages for their famllies. This respect for teachers
is carried over to the public school instructor now that
there is a public school as well as parochial schools in
the district, and in 1950 a teacherage was bullt for the
superintendent of public schools.

All the parochial teachers in the community have

been trained at either Lutheran teacher colleges or at

1 1 am indebted to Teacher E. F. Rittmueller, principal
of 3t. Lorenz School, for much of the information in this
chapter.
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other Lutheran institutions of higher learninge. Most have
a degree and all hold a state teacher'!s certificate. Until
ten years ago all of them had & command of German and many
of them today have a trace, though usually slight, of a
Germanic accent. Thelr English speech, however, 1s not that
of the community. The older instructors have acquired a
knowledge of Bayrisch if they didn't know it when entering
the community. Most of the younger members of the faculty,
however, either know no German or have met only the minimum
college language requirements. Teachers, parochial as well
as public, are accorded the same privileges as other citizens
and may smoke or drink & beer whenever he so desires.

The first teacher in the community was Candidate J. L.
Flessa (1846-1847), who assisted Craemer with some of his (
ministerial duties as well as instructing the Indian and
parish children. Teacher Pinkepank (1847-1854) replaced
him and acted as both the cantor and teacher. Cantor
Riedel served the community as teacher from 1854 to 1901.
As early as 1854 he had eighty students.Z The school
building was probably near the village.

In 1858 Craemer, during a visit to Frankenmuth, advised
the congregation to form an English district schocl along
with the parochial school. Karl G. Pfieffer was called

auayer, 96.
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a8 the English public school teacher in that year. However,
slnce everyone in the community was of the same faith, he
was regarded as one of the parish and was maintained by

the church.’ This eventually led to & combining of public
and parochial schools in the same bullding; & similar
arrangement was followed in most of the other Bavarian
communitiese.

In 1861 a school was built in the western part of
the township, where Cantor Riedel taught parochial subjects
to half the group while Pfeiffer, the public school teacher,
taught English to the other half. This system was followed
in the subsequent schools in Frankenmuth township for many
years. Sometimes one teacher doubled in both capacities,
being the public &s well as the parochial teacher.

The system of combining both schools in this way
was not i1llegal in idea. The state required that the
public school be held 130 half days each year, and since
the achools in the township were open 120 full days, the
parishioners considered this to fulfill the state require-
ment. The galary of about $300 a year was paid half with
community taxes and half with church fundse The first
objection to this arrangement by state officials was voiced
in 1895, but not until 1903 was there a separate public
school bulldinge.

3Ibid., 97.
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Just what the curriculum offered in these early
schools is unknown. The following 1s the proposed progranm
for Lutheran schools of the Missouri Synode This could not
have been followed according to schedule, since the
Frankenmuth schools divided their day into half English and
half German instruction.

DAILY PROGRAM FOR A LUTHERAN ELEMENTARY SCHOOL--1354

The following daily program for & Lutheran

elementary school, such as the Missouri Synod
fostered from the beginning, was presented to
the Chicago Conference of teachers by He. Barthel.
It assumes that the school is in session five days
& week, six hours per day. The children are
divided into three classes:

1. Those who can read correctly and readily
(richtig und fertig)

2. Those who can read correctly but not readily

3« Those who can read neither correctly nor readily
Monday

9:00-10:15 A.M.

Morning devotion. Then religious instruction
according to Luther's Small Catechism.

10:15-11:00 A.M.
Bible reading for the first class. Penmanw
ship for the second and third classese.
Note: After the reading, the teacher lets
the children relate what they have read.
Similarly, the second class 1s questioned
on the readinge.

11:00-12:00 M.
First half of period, mental arithmetic for
the first and second classes, spelling for
the third, in second part of period, singinge.
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1:00-2:00 P.XM.
Penmanship for first class, reading of
stories for second; spelling with the
third class.
Note: If time 1s insufficient for third
class, continue with it in next period.

2:00-3:00 P.Me
Arithmetic for all childrene.

3300-4:00 P.M.
English combined with German language lessonse.

Close with prayere.

Note: For each the third class will memorize
& small part of the catechism or a short
Bible passage and recite it immediately after
the reading lessone.

Tuesday
Same as for previous daye.
Wednesday

9:00-10:30 AsM.
Morning devotion. Then Bible History
according to Huebner's Histories com=
bined with reading of this history by
first and second classese.

10:30-11:30 A.M.
First class: German language
Second class: Penmanship
Third class: Reading

11:30-12:00 M.
First class: Continuation of previous period
Recitation by second and third classes

1:00-2:00 P.M.
Arithmetic for first and second classes;
reading for third class.

2:00=~3:00 P.M.
General toplcs with all classes.

3:00=4:00 P.M,
English reading and language lessons.

Close with prayer.
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Thursday

Same plan and subjects as for Monday and
Tuesday, except that in the second hour
of the morning the first class reads a
hymn from the hymn booke.

Friday
In the morning, same plan as for Wednesday,
except that in Bible History the class does
not read. The first two hours of the
afternoon same as Wednesday. In the third
period the corrected German language lessons
are returned and new assignments made. The
first class recites memory work. In pree

paration for Sunday, the epistle and gospel
lessons are read by the first classe.

Close with prayor.u
Ludwig Fuerbringer relates that much of his education
&t Frankenmuth--this would be around 1870-~18380--was in the
Franconian dlalect, the correct name for what the Frankenw=
muthers call Bayrisch, because many of the children could
not understand either High German or English. Even the
English half of the day was usually in German, and he
reports the teacher as often settling a point by saying:
"Wir wollen einmal sehen was Webster aagt.'5
8ince Cantor Riedel never learned to speak English,
the school in the village, founded in 1268, divided the
students into two groups, one group studying in English under

one teacher and the other in German under Riedel. History

uReproduced in translation in Keinath, 59-60.
5Fuerbr1nger, 23,
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and geography were usually in German, but arithmetic was
taught in English, for as the village sage puts it, "They
knew if you wanted to make money you have to know arithmetic
in English."

By 1914 all the parochial schools limited German
instruction to one period a day and only religion and

memorizing, i1.e., learning Luther's Small Catechism,

were taught in German.6 This condition prevailed until
about 1937 at which time religious instructions were offered
in either language. A8 late as 1943 some religion was still
taught in Germane.

| The instruction of German became voluntary with the
introduction of English religious instruction. Today German
is elected by the puplls. No German instruction is offered
in the first grade, the teacher not being able to teach the
subject. According to Teacher Rittmueller, about twenty~five
pupils enroll for it in the second grade, some fifteen in
the third grade, and about five in the fourth grade. No
German 1s offered above this level. The decline of German

in the school reflects the feeling of the parents. The only

6 Luther's Small Catechism contains the articles of
faith, i.e., the Ten Commandments, Apostles Creed, etc.,
with an explanation of each one. It also gives an explanation
of the sacraments of the Church. The second half of the
book contains about five hundred Bible verses which document
the articles of falith.
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puplils studying it are the children of parents who sey,
"Mein Kind soll Deutsch lerneni" There <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>